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Location:   32655 Boston Mill Dr. 
 Shedd, Linn County, Oregon 
 
 Township 13 South, Range 03 West, Section 08 
 UTM 10 493650 4922900 
 Latitude:  44.461226345; Longitude: -123.08100617 
 8 acres  
 
Date(s) of 
Construction:  ca. 1863-1957 
 
Builders:  Richard C. Finley built the oldest portion of the Boston Flour Mill in 

1863.  It was added onto over the years by Martin and Ott Thompson in 
the 1910s and 1930s, and renamed Thompson’s Mills.  The waterworks 
system began with the water rights established by Finley in 1858, and 
developed over time by the Finley and Thompson families, including the 
construction of the Sodom Ditch, and replacing temporary crib dams with 
concrete dams in 1954-57.   

 
Original Owner/ 
Occupant and Use:  The original owner was Richard C. Finley, who built the mill in 1863.  He 

and William Simmons owned it jointly throughout most of 1866-1891 
when one-half interest was sold to Martin Thompson.  The Thompson 
family operated the mill, which expanded from just processing flour to 
other grains for human consumption as well as animal feed, until the 
1970s.  During the 1980s and 1990s, the mill was used to produce 
hydropower by Marlene and Dave Babbits. 

 
Present Owner/ 
Occupant and Use:  Oregon Parks & Recreation Department (OPRD) purchased the property 

in 2004 and is the present owner and occupant of Thompson’s Mills, as it 
is now known.  It is operated as a heritage park and museum, with 
interpretive panels and displays both outside and inside the mill for guided 
and self-guided tours.  The interior of the mill provides the visitor with a 
sense of the complexity of a water-powered flour mill and the machinery 
continues to function for demonstration purposes.  
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Significance:  Thompson’s Mills is significant as a tangible chronology of industrial 
building techniques commonly used in the Willamette Valley, and as a 
rare and intact example of late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century 
milling technology.  It is the oldest, longest-operating water-powered mill, 
and one of only two mills still in operation in Oregon. The waterworks 
system consisting of a network of ditches and dams controls the Calapooia 
River flow and directs it toward the mill. For more than 150 years it has 
been essential to the operation of the mill, initially for flour and grain 
production, and later to produce electricity. 

 
Description:  The mill is an irregularly shaped structure with overall dimensions of 

approximately 150’ x 250’. Originally constructed in 1858, it was rebuilt 
after being destroyed by fire.  The foot print of the oldest portion of the 
mill completed in 1863 measures 45’ x 60’.  In 1917, the concrete grain 
silos were constructed.  In the 1930s, a third floor was created and the 
wooden flume was replaced with concrete. 

 
The mill’s system, called continuous process milling, consists of augers, 
elevators, bins and chutes that move grain automatically through the mill.  
Elevators move the grain up, chutes use gravity to move grain down, and 
augers move the grain horizontally. 

 
A system of waterways, dams, control gates, ditches and dikes have 
diverted water from the Calapooia River to Thompsons Mills’ head gates 
since 1858. The primary components of the waterworks system include 
the bifurcation of the Calapooia River and Sodom Ditch, the Sodom Ditch, 
the Sodom Dam, the Shearer Dam, the Spillway Dam, the Upper Millrace 
Channel, the millrace, and the tailrace. The waterworks system is spread 
out over a distance of about six and one-half miles adjacent to and east of 
the Calapooia River.  

 
History:   Water Powered Mills in Oregon: 
 

Wheat was a very important commodity in 1845, evidenced by the passing 
of a territorial law stating that legal tender included gold, silver, treasury 
warrants, and wheat, any or all of which could be used for payment of 
taxes and satisfaction of court judgments.  The importance of wheat 
increased during the gold rush (1848-55) that brought miners who 
concentrated in northern California and southern Oregon; consequently the 
number of flour mills increased substantially to meet market needs.   

 
Of the 46 grist mills constructed during the 1840s through the 1930s in 
Oregon, documentation shows that 25% were constructed in the 1870s, 
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with 16% constructed during the 1850s, and 16% constructed in the 1890s.  
The majority of the mills were constructed of wood, with a few built of 
concrete (9%).  These mills have common development features that 
parallel the changing needs for flour and grain production.  Additions were 
built onto the majority of the mills as time went on and they typically 
changed from processing flour for human consumption to grain processing 
for feeding animals.  Furthermore, many of the small mills were 
transformed into different uses as the industry grew and larger production 
mills were established. 

 
Six flour mills powered by the Calapooia River were constructed between 
1848 and 1900 (see Appendix A).  Richard Finley constructed the 
Crawfordsville Mill in 1848, and the McKercher Mill in 1853 (collapsed 
May 1948), before starting the Boston Flour Mill in 1858.  Three other 
mills included the Magnolia Mill in Albany, constructed in 1852 and 
demolished in 1959, the Brownsville Mill, started in 1858, and the Holley 
Mill, built in 1900.1 
 
The size of the majority of these mills ranged from one-story, with a 
relatively small footprint (50’ x 60’), to four-and-one-half stories with a 
larger building footprint (100’ x 150’). Thompson’s Mills evolved into the 
largest mill (150’ x 250’) dating from the early 1860s through the 1930s, 
and remained in operation for the longest period of time.  Fueled by 
expanding domestic and export markets, and later the rise of industrial-
scale commercial baking, there was tremendous growth during the early 
twentieth century in the U.S. and Pacific Northwest grain milling 
industries,.  This was expressed in a trend towards larger new mill plants 
during the 1920s-40s, such as the expansion of Centennial Mills, in 
Portland, and with the purchase and consolidation of older, smaller 
operations by large corporate concerns.  
 
Additional information about the mills that have been documented in 
Oregon is listed in the table in Appendix B.  Of the 46 listed, 34 are 
known to be no longer standing. It is expected that a number of other mills 
were constructed during the settlement period and burned or were 
demolished prior to the efforts establish in the 1970s to document them.   
 
Boston Flour Mill/Thompson’s Mills: 
 
The location of the mill in conjunction with the town of Boston was 
central to the wheat-growing farms in the valley.  The growth of the area 

                                                            
1 See attached diagram, “Flour Mills Powered by the Calapooia River.”  Appendix A. 
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was heavily dependent on the mill as settlers began growing wheat not 
only for home use, but as a prime source of income. Boston (just west of 
the mill) was surveyed by H.J.C. Averill (of Brownsville) and filed with 
the Linn County Recorder’s Office on October 25, 1861 (see Appendix 
C).  It covered eight acres of land and was eleven square blocks with a 
public square near the center, similar to New England towns. Boston’s 
development, however, was short-lived when plans to locate the main 
north-south line of the Oregon and California Railroad adjacent to the 
town changed, and instead tracks were located approximately one mile to 
the west near Shedd Station. The stagecoach layover and the post office 
were moved to Shedd in 1871.  The town of Boston declined very quickly 
but the mill, built by Richard Finley, continued to operate successfully. 
 
Richard Chism Finley and his wife, Polly Ann Kirk, along with two 
daughters, moved from the Midwest to Oregon in 1847 and began building 
a grist mill below the falls near Crawfordsville in 1853.  In 1856-58, 
Finley partnered with Philemon V. Crawford and Alexander Brandon to 
build Boston Flour Mill. After the first mill burned down, Finley rebuilt 
the mill in 1863. His partnership with Crawford and Brandon ended in 
1866 when they sold their shares to William Simmons, an immigrant from 
England.  Simmons sold his shares to Martin Thompson in 1891, and in 
1897 Thompson purchased Finley’s remaining shares. 
 
Martin and Sophia Thompson emigrated from Germany in 1870 and lived 
in Washington State for a number of years before moving to Oregon in 
1891 and obtaining partial ownership in the mill. Martin soon set out 
modernizing the mill by installing steel rollers in place of the French 
buhrstones and changed the mill’s name to Boston Roller Mills.  In 1897, 
Martin obtained full ownership.  When he passed away in 1910, wife, 
Sophia, and two of their children, Leo and Ott operated the mill and 
changed the name to Thompson’s Flouring Mills.  In 1946, the 
Thompsons stopped milling wheat flour and featured breakfast foods, 
meal, and animal feed during the 1950s.  The mill was connected to 
commercial power in the 1950s, and a new opportunity presented itself to 
share water, and the development of a water-use agreement that ultimately 
lead to the establishment of the Calapooia Irrigation District in 1954. After 
Ott Thompson died in 1965, his children assumed management of the mill 
and changed the name to Thompson’s Mills Inc.2  Changes to the milling 
industry accumulated to the point where beginning in the 1970s, it became 
evident that the economic viability of the mill would be through the 

                                                            
2 Skjelstad, Lucy. “Milling on the Calapooia, 1847-1980, Saga of the Boston/Thompson Mill.” Oregon State 
University: Horner Museum Tour Guide (1980): 1-15. 
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development of hydropower.  The use of the mill for primarily producing 
electricity was developed by the Babbits.  
 
The mill was sold in 1974 to Merlene and Jim Danaher. Merlene became 
the sole owner in 1977. In 1979 she and Dave Babbits (an employee of 
Thompson’s Mills) were married.  The Babbits proceeded to make 
relatively minor changes to the mill to provide electricity for sale, and 
signed a 20-year contract with Pacific Power Company in 1986. During 
the late 1980s and early 1990s, power was produced on an “as available” 
basis. Controversy surrounding water rights increased as varied 
approaches for maintaining those rights to produce electricity while 
working to restore the river, threatened the viability of the mill. Governor 
Kitzhaber formed a group in 1999 to resolve the cultural and natural 
conflicts at Thompson’s Mills.   
 
Ultimately, OPRD purchased the mill in March 2004, and the 
hydroelectric plant was shut off in April 2005.  Subsequently the Sodom 
and Shearer Dams were removed.  In order to keep the millrace filled for 
fire protection and demonstrations for historical interpretation, a small 
dam on the south end of the millrace and pumps were added to keep it 
filled. 

 
Sources: 
 
Calapooia Watershed Council and River Design Group, Inc. for National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service Office of Habitat Conservation. 
“Biological Assessment for the Removal of Sodom Dam and Shearer Dam.”  December 2010. 
 
National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form, Boston Flour Mill, July 9, 1979, Listed 
August 21, 1979. 
 
Oregon Park and Recreation Department Documents, available at Headquarters Office, 725 
Summer St. NE, Salem, OR 97301: 
 

BUCY Associates. Interpretive Plan for Thompson’s Mills State Heritage Site. February 
28, 2008. 
 
Crispin, Doug.  “The History of Electricity at Thompson’s Mills.”  March 2007. 
 
Deacon, Kristine, and Doug Crispin. “Historic Flour and Feed Sacks at Thompson’s 
Mills. March 2008, Edited and supplemented by Daryl Patton, March, 2011. 
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_______. Historic Structure Report Thompson’s Mills, University of Oregon, School of 
Architecture & Allied Arts, 2004. 
 

 
Patton, Daryl.  “Weights and Measures at Thompson’s Mills.”  April 2011. 

 
_________. “Thompson Mill”, Documentation to comply with Article 9, Project #8169, 
received in SHPO office November 9, 1987.   
 
Thompson, Ott. “Thompson’s Flouring Mills Centennial 1858-1959.” 1959. 
 
_________. “Thompson’s Mills State Heritage Site Master Plan.”  September 2006. 
 
Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates Inc. “Thompson’s Mills Silo Investigation.”  April 17, 
2007. 

 
Skjelstad, Lucy.  Milling on the Calapooia, 1847-1980, Saga of the Boston/Thompson Mill, 
1980. 
 
 
Historian(s):   Julie Osborne, Preservation Specialist, OPRD, January 2013  

 
Project 
Information:  This document was prepared to satisfy a stipulation in the Memorandum 

of Agreement between the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
(FERC), OPRD, and the State Historic Preservation Office, because the 
property was adversely affected by the surrender of exemption for the 
Thompson’s Mills Hydroelectric Project (FERC No. 9169) and the 
removal of the Sodom and Shearer dams.  See HAER OR-183-A for 
documentation of the mill structure, and OR-183-B for documentation of 
the waterworks system.   

 
 Photographs were taken by James Little, Interpretive Specialist, OPRD. 
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APPENDIX A - Flour Mills Powered by the Calapooia River 
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APPENDIX B – Grist Mills in Oregon
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APPENDIX C - Map of Town of Boston, Oregon 




